1979

Gerald E. Hulbert v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This action was brought by the respondent Gerald E. Hulbert to recover attorneys fees in the amount of \$77,275.00 and court costs in the amount of \$540.65 from the appellant State of Utah pursuant to Sections 63-30a-1, 2 and 3, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as enacted by Chapter 245 of the Laws of Utah, 1977, which became effective May 10, 1977.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Following a non-jury trial the lower court granted judgment for the plaintiff-respondent in the amount of \$62,384.99.

RELEIF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the judgment of the lower court on the grounds that it had no jurisdiction to entertain the action, the judgment is not supported by the evidence and the statute upon which the judgment is based is invalid as private, special or retroactive legislation under the United State and Utah Constitutions.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

With some marked exceptions, there is competent evidence in this case which would support the Findings of Fact of the court below. Those findings of fact, with the exceptions noted, are as follows:

1. In 1975, a series of indictments were issued by a Utah State Grand Jury against Gerald Hulbert, the plaintiff-respondent, containing twelve counts in all which were issued in connection with and arose out of certain claimed acts and/or omissions of Mr. Hulbert during the performance of his duties and within the scope of his employment as Chairman and Director of the Utah State Liquor Control Commission.

2. Ultimately, each of the indictments were disposed of by a verdict of "not guilty" after trial, by an acquittal or by a dismissal of the action by the court.

3. Mr. Hulbert retained the services of Wayne L. Black and John L. Black and their law firm of Rawlings, Roberts and Black to defend himself against the charges contained in the indictments.

4. Wayne L. Black and John L. Black were lifelong friends of Mr. Hulbert and no fee arrangement was made between the parties at the outset of their work on his behalf. (It should here be noted that such services commenced in January of 1974 and included appearances by John L. Black as Mr. Hulbert's counsel at hearings conducted by the Salt Lake County Attorney and the Utah Advisory Council on Liquor Control in October and November of that year. R. 138-141, 188-192.)

5. After the first group of indictments were issued in May, 1975, a \$5,000 retainer was paid to the Black firm by Mr. Hulbert and an additional fee of \$5,000 was estimated for trial of the matter, if necessary, and \$2,000 for an appeal. (It should be noted that the retainer, trial fee and appeal fee, if necessary, were agreed upon by the parties at that time. See Mr. Hulbert's

testimony at R. 143-144, and Wayne L. Black's testimony at R. 199-200. It should also be noted that the first group of indictments included 4 indictments with 7 counts of perjury, false and material statements and embezzlement of whiskey. See Mr. Wayne L. Black's testimony describing same at R. 196.)

6. A second and third set of indictments were handed down in July and August of 1975, and the Blacks continued to represent Mr. Hulbert thereon.

7. The matter was vigorously prosecuted by special attorneys general appointed by the State and Salt Lake County Attorney's office, and the defense was protracted, complicated, time consuming and difficult.

8. Attendant publicity contributed to the task of defense counsel.

9. Mr. Hulbert's mental and physical health deteriorated during the protracted litigation and any discussion of fees was deferred, but he finally insisted on a billing because of his strong sense of personal and moral obligation to pay for the services rendered and to know where he stood vis-a-vis the fee obligation.

10. In response to Mr. Hulbert's request, Wayne L. Black wrote a letter in September of 1976,

offering to consider \$18,500 the total fee, taking into account \$8,500 paid prior to that date by Hulbert who, though unemployed and ill, informed Mr. Black that the fee suggested in the September letter was token in nature and unacceptable to him.

(Exhibit 4-P is the letter from Mr. Black to Mr. Hulbert and clearly sets forth the total fee for all services to be performed on all the indictments of \$18,500. It is not an "offer" or "suggestion" in any sense of the word. Exhibit 5-P is a note from Hulbert to the Blacks in response to the billing in which he acknowledges the fee as "very, very minimal" and states his only concern "is making prompt payment to you." Nothing in the written documents indicates any non-acceptance or repudiation of the stated fee by either party.)

11. Subsequently, Mr. Hulbert and counsel agreed orally that Hulbert would pay the law firm a reasonable and fair fee "if and when" he became able to do so.

[The evidence will not support such an agreement. Hulbert testified that he subsequently told Mr. Black "I would make it right with him if I could find it in my means at any time." (R. 153.) Wayne Black's testimony

on the matter was that Hulbert told him "I don't know when or how I am going to be able to do it, but I'm not going to rest until I pay you something that is reasonable and that more nearly represents what you have done for me and my family," to which Black responded "Well, Gerry, let's just kind of let it go and see what happens, and if you are able ever to do that, or to pay an additional amount, that would be fine with me, and I will kind of leave it up to you." (R. 217-218). On cross examination Mr. Black testified as follows:

"Q. And wasn't it your intent in writing the letter that is an exhibit here, that I think is dated September the 3rd, that you were going to satisfy him by setting an amount beyond which you would not assert any legal claim against him?

A. That's right." (R.322.)

And he further testified as to the subsequent oral discussion as follows:

"MR. HANSEN: I'm simply asking if there has been anything that's happened since September 3rd upon which Mr. Black feels that he could assert a claim for an additional amount than what is in the letter and except as it applies based upon that statute.

A. Well, I think--

Q. In other words, absent the legislature doing anything, now that you have had a chance because Mr. Hulbert is not in an emotional state to look at it perhaps under less friendship duress, to say that you do have a claim against him?

A. Well, I think that the thing that happened on September 3rd and the days that followed was not really a thing that rose to the level of a new contract, or any contract at all. I advised in my letter Mr. Hulbert of an amount of money that would satisfy me, having in mind all of the problems and travails that he was undergoing at that time. And when he came back after receiving that letter and after writing a little note that he wrote to me and talked to me about this, he was saying, and did say to me, I won't accept that amount of money as being a discharge of the obligation for what you have done for me, and I don't know when or how I will be able to do it, but I'm going to make this right with you, Mr. Black, and I'm going to do what is right, you know. Gerry never called me "Mr. Black", that wasn't the words. And I in turn said, well, whatever you are able to do, or can do, I will be satisfied with. If that's interpreted as a new agreement, the agreement was that he was going to pay me what was reasonable and right regardless of the content of my letter, and I was willing to accept his analysis of what was reasonable and right as a discharge of that obligation. Now, that's the way I looked at that." (R.324-326).

The fact of the matter is that at the time of trial Mr. Hulbert had only paid only \$11,500 plus two small checks

amounting to \$564.99 for court reporters and transcripts, of which sum \$1,500 was paid for representation on tax matters not involved in this action. (R. 153-154, 177-178, emphasis added.))

12. No accounting or itemization of specific services was prepared by the law firm at that time. An itemized record of services was prepared by the law firm in 1977 for use in support of Mr. Hulbert's claim which he thereafter submitted to the Utah State Board of Examiners.

13. Mr. Hulbert intended his obligations to be one for reasonable fees at a then undetermined level, and his counsel intended that the obligation would be contingent upon Hulbert's future ability to pay.

(As pointed out above the only obligation Hulbert incurred was the billing set forth in Exhibit 4-P for \$18,500 and his ability to pay has never reached that level as his total payments on that fee at the time of trial was only \$10,000.)

14. In 1977, the Utah State Legislature adopted Section 63-30a-2, Utah Code Annotated, (1953), which reads as follows:

"If a state grand jury indicts an officer or employee, in connection with or arising out of any act or omission of that officer or employee during the

performance of his duties, within the scope of his employment or under color of his authority, and that indictment is quashed or dismissed or results in a judgment of acquittal, unless the indictment is quashed or dismissed upon application or motion of the prosecuting attorney, that officer or employee shall be entitled to recover from the state reasonable attorney's fees and court costs necessarily incurred in the defense of that indictment."

15. The indictments handed down against Hulbert were connected with the performance of his public duties within the meaning of the statute.

16. The efforts of defense counsel in suppressing illegal or inadmissible evidence were totally responsible for the dismissal of two counts in the indictments (by the prosecution) and the defense of those two counts was such an integral part of the entire defense that they cannot be excluded from this lawsuit.

17. Hulbert incurred attorneys fees and court costs and agreed and promised to pay Rawlings, Roberts and Black for the fair value of their services.

(This finding of fact is contrary to the actual obligation between the parties as represented by Exhibits 4-P and 5-P and no subsequent agreement was ever entered into between the parties as hereinabove set forth.)

18. Mr. Hulbert and his counsel agreed that Hulbert would pay reasonable attorneys fees if and when he obtained the means.

[The evidence does not support any such agreement between the parties, and the foregoing finding is totally refuted by respondent's letter dated September 9, 1977 (Exhibit 1-D) to his attorneys in which he confirmed and stated his prior approval of the agreement to pay \$18,500 for his attorneys' services.]

19. The passage of Section 63-30a-2, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, by the Utah Legislature was, in fact, the occurrence of the condition precedent, or contingency, upon which Hulbert's obligation hinged, and he is now obligated by his own promise to pay a reasonable fee for services rendered, and he has "incurred" such a fee within the meaning of the statute.

(This finding of fact is a conclusion of law by the lower court and the means by which the lower court transferred the factually non-existent ability of Hulbert to pay not only the attorneys' fees he was obligated to pay as evidenced by Exhibits 4-P and 5-P but also such additional fees as he would like to have paid to his life-long friends, the Blacks, onto the shoulders of the beleaguered taxpayers of the State of Utah whose unlimited ability to pay is hereby conveniently substituted for that of the

respondent Hulbert. The pertinent facts are that Hulbert conceived of the idea of a state reimbursement statute, obtained a draft of the bill through the assistance of his attorney Wayne L. Black, secured its sponsorship in the legislature and successfully lobbied it to enactment.

(R. 156-158). As to the latter Mr. Hulbert testified at R. 158:

"Q. And was the bill there ultimately enacted into law?

A. Yes, sir, it was. I must confess that I lobbied many, many days up there with people that I thought I knew, and it was a personal effort that I feel succeeded in getting it passed."

The bill as enacted was made retroactive for two years so as to cover the indictments in Hulbert's own case. See Section 63-30a-2, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as enacted by Chapter 245 of the Laws of Utah 1977.)

20. Hulbert's exposure was great and the State hired well-known and experienced outside counsel to prosecute the charges against him, which they did in an effective and aggressive fashion, and Hulbert was justified in his decision to seek not only "adequate" counsel but the most effective counsel he could.

(This finding of fact as to the effectiveness of the prosecution would clearly be suspect in light of the failure of the prosecution to secure a single conviction out

of twelve felony counts in the several indictments. This is a conclusion of the lower court that is unwarranted under the evidence in the case.)

21. The determination of a reasonable fee must include the many factors ordinarily used by an attorney in setting a fee himself. These include the following: (1) The time spent on the matter; (2) The complexity of the case and difficulty of representation of the client; (3) The skill, competence and experience of counsel; (4) The ability of the client to pay; (5) The personal relationship between client and attorney; (6) The actual outcome of the case in view of the results possible at the outset.

22. Counsel for Mr. Hulbert spent 525 hours on this case and made 65 court appearances. Two trials and two appeals were successfully prosecuted and Hulbert was eventually exonerated on all twelve counts in question herein, each of which involved felony charges and which could have resulted in substantial prison terms.

23. The hourly fees of \$75.00 per hour charged by counsel for Hulbert and the additional fees charged for court appearances, trials and appeals were within the range of reasonable fees for the services rendered, and the total fee, together with costs, claimed here by Hulbert of \$77,275.00 is within the reasonable range.

[In addition to the hourly charges, the total fee

trial from October 14-21, 1975, \$7,500 for a non-jury trial from December 2-5, 1975, and \$200 for court appearances other than trials and appeals (R. 30.) There is no evidence in the record of this case that Mr. Black ever "charged" Hulbert \$75 per hour in addition to the claimed trial fees and court appearance fees for his services. The only fee ever asserted or claimed by the Blacks against Hulbert is the \$18,500 as set forth in Exhibit 4-P. As to whether he ever discussed hourly fees with his counsel, Hulbert testified that he did not and "that was the least of my concerns." (R. 169-170.))

24. Though \$77,275.00 is within the "reasonable" range, some adjustment is appropriate because Hulbert enjoyed a close personal relationship with counsel, and some of the services provided were rendered with no expectation of payment because of that relationship. Further, it is possible that, in the absence of that high degree of personal regard for Hulbert, more of the research and support services might have been provided by law clerks and junior members of the firm, at a lower cost. Finally, Hulbert's ability to pay in this case is limited and dependent upon access to reimbursement by the State. Those additional factors presented by defendant result in a reasonable discount of 20 percent of the attorney's fees to the sum of \$61,820.00, which is also within the "reasonable" range.

(This finding that Hulbert's ability to pay is limited and dependent upon access to reimbursement by the State is a finding of fact.)

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services Library Services and Technology Act administered by the National Endowment for the Humanities. Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

State is clearly supportive of the fact, as before noted, that the legal fees "necessarily incurred" by Hulbert in this case, as measured by the basic ingredient of his ability to pay and not the ability of the State of Utah to pay such fees, is established by the fee set by his attorneys in Exhibit 4-P and Hulbert's incomplete payment thereof.)

25. Hulbert necessarily incurred costs of court in the amount of \$564.99 in the defense of the Grand Jury Indictments.

26. The intent of the legislature as determined by the recording of legislative debate at the time of the passage of Section 63-20a-2, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, was that such "reasonable attorney's fees . . . necessarily incurred" are to be paid by the State of Utah out of the General Fund after such amount is determined by a Court of competent jurisdiction.

In addition to the foregoing facts as found by the lower court and to which appellant has noted its exceptions from the record in this case, it should be pointed out that Mr. Hulbert himself testified that he may have stated to members of the legislative analyst's office who were trying to determine the financial impact of Hulbert's legislation in the 1977 Legislature that he was obligated to pay \$32,000 to his attorneys for legal services reimbursable thereunder. (R. 346-348.) This was substantiated by Douglas A. McDonald,

a fiscal economist with the legislative fiscal analyst, who testified that he met with Mr. Hulbert during the 1977 legislative session at the State Capitol to determine the fiscal impact of Mr. Hulbert's bill-- Senate Bill No. 247--and Mr. Hulbert estimated his attorneys' fees thereunder to be "around \$30,000" and that legal fees under the bill could run from \$10,000 to \$40,000 per indictment. (R. 348-352).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE LOWER COURT WAS WITHOUT JURISDICTION TO HEAR THIS MATTER WHICH JURISDICTION WAS VESTED EXCLUSIVELY IN THE BOARD OF EXAMINERS OF THE STATE OF UTAH.

The respondent sought recovery of \$77,815.65 for attorneys fees and costs allegedly incurred in the defense of nine grand jury indictments issued in 1975 in connection with the performance of his duties as chairman and director of the Utah State Liquor Control Commission. The sole basis for the complaint was the enactment of Senate Bill No. 247 contained in Chapter 245 of the Laws of Utah 1977, now included in Sections 63-30a-1, 2 and 3, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended. Section 63-30a-2 thereof provides as follows:

"If a state grand jury indicts an officer or employee, in connection with or arising out of any act of omission of that officer or employee during the performance of his duties, within the scope of his employment or under color of his authority, and that indictment is quashed or dismissed or results in a judgment of acquittal, unless the indictment is quashed or dismissed upon application or motion of the prosecuting attorney, that officer or employee shall be entitled to recover from the state the reasonable attorneys' fees and court costs necessarily incurred in the defense of that indictment."

The foregoing enactment by the 1977 Utah Legislature did not provide funding for the payment of claims thereunder and the Legislature has made no appropriations for that purpose. The respondent's complaint does not allege that any such appropriation was ever made by the legislature. Under these circumstances the respondent's claim is controlled by Article VII, Section 13, and Article V, Section 1, of the Utah Constitution, and Sections 63-6-1 and 63-6-10, Utah Code Annotated 1953, as amended, pertaining to the powers of the Board of Examiners of the State of Utah and the separation of powers between the legislative, executive and judicial branches of state government. Article VII, Section 13 of the Utah Constitution provides as follows:

***They [the Governor, Secretary of State and Attorney General] shall, also, constitute a Board of Examiners, with power to examine all claims against the state except salaries or compensation of officers fixed by law, and perform

such other duties or may be prescribed by law; and no claim against the State, except for salaries and compensation of officers fixed by law, shall be passed upon by the Legislature without having been considered and acted upon by the said Board of Examiners." (Emphasis added.)

It is well established that the foregoing constitutional provision grants broad powers to the Board of Examiners in examining into and determining the merits of claims asserted against the state. The Supreme Court of the State of Utah so held in Wood v. Budge, 13 U.2d 359, 374 P.2d 516 (1962) and explained the purpose therefor as follows, at page 519 of Pacific Reporter:

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