1979

Gerald E. Hulbert v. State of Utah : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

POINT I. THE DISTRICT COURT HAD JURISDICTION TO ENTER JUDGMENT ON RESPONDENT'S COMPLAINT.

The appellant is contending in this Court, as he did below, that the power vested in the Board of Examiners by the Constitution to examine all claims against the State deprives the courts of jurisdiction to enter judgment on such claims. Even a cursory reading of the constitutional provision in question, however, reveals that no such limitation is embodied

in its express terms. Art. VII, §13 of the Utah Constitution provides, in relevant part, that;

[The Governor, Attorney General and Secretary of State] shall, also, constitute a Board of Examiners, with power to examine all claims against the State except salaries or compensation of officers fixed by law, and perform such other duties as may be prescribed by law; and no claim against the State, except for salaries and compensation of officers fixed by law, shall be passed upon by the Legislature without having been considered and acted upon by the said Board of Examiners. (emphasis added)

The obvious intent of this section is to provide a limitation on the disbursement of public funds by the legislature; a limitation which has never been questioned by the respondent. While the judgment rendered by the District Court necessarily had to be submitted to the Board of Examiners as a condition precedent to its satisfaction, such a restriction did not affect the jurisdiction of the District Court to hear this action and determine the state's liability under Utah Code Ann. § 63-30a-1 et seq. (Supp. 1977).

The narrow issue presented by the appellant's first point has been previously decided by this Court. In Campbell Bldg. Co. v. State Road Commission, 95 Utah 424, 70 P.2d 857 (1937), a case involving a suit against the Commission for damages and for the balance due on a contract, this Court pointed out that there is no provision in the Utah Constitution which prohibits the legislature from waiving the immunity of the state, and held that the legislature had effected just such a waiver with regard to written contracts entered into by the State Road Commission. In response to the Attorney General's contention that the

exclusive procedure for filing claims against the state was with the Board of Examiners, the identical claim raised in this case, the Court noted that any judgment obtained might have to be presented to the Board of Examiners before the plaintiff could receive payment, but stressed that the procedure for executing on a judgment did not affect the jurisdiction of a Court in rendering that judgment.

It is not now necessary for us to decide whether the only method by which plaintiff could satisfy any judgment it might obtain would be by filing the claim evidenced by the judgment with the Board of Examiners and, in the event there was no appropriation out of which it could be paid, to then go to the Legislature for such appropriation. How the judgment may be enforced, if one is obtained, is quite another matter from the problem for us to decide, which is, whether plaintiff may proceed in the Courts to have its claim liquidated. (citations omitted)

70 P.2d at 861. The Court held that the plaintiff could maintain his action for liabilities arising out of a written contract, because even though the state "may refuse to respond in damages and leave a claimant without any remedy, as it may refuse to pay its bonds, the obligation remains . . ." 70 P.2d at 862.

The respondent submits that this decision is dispositive of the Attorney General's contention that Article VII, Sec. 13 of the Utah Constitution is a direct limitation on the jurisdiction of Courts to hear claims and enter judgments against the State. The appellant's conclusion is a product of the failure to recognize the vital distinction, highlighted by the Court in Campbell, supra, between the two separate procedures of

obtaining a judgment on the one hand and successfully satisfying that judgment on the other. It is fundamental that any judgment entered against the State is not self-executing, and Article VII, § 13, is a limitation on how such a judgment can be satisfied. It has no bearing on how it is obtained.

While the appellant has offered a voluminous authority to show that the Board of Examiners has a broad and constitutionally based power to review all claims against the State prior to the legislature taking any action on such claims (a proposition with which the plaintiff does not take issue), only the case of Wilkinson v. State, 42 Utah 483, 143 P. 626 (1913), makes even an oblique reference to the effect of the Board's power on the jurisdiction of courts to hear claims against the State. That case, however, must be viewed in light of the conditions prevailing when it was written. Faced with a lower court decision which had found liability on the part of the State and sequestered particular state funds out of which the judgment was to be satisfied, the Court held that the State was immune from suit and that even in a case where immunity had been waived, a court could not designate how a judgment would be satisfied (if at all).

The Court went on to note that although the State was immune from suit, there was a procedure through which claims against the State could be heard, namely by filing claims with the Board of Examiners. The Court highlighted this procedure to show that the State "[has] not arbitrarily, as they might

have done, shielded the State from being sued in the courts, but they did so for good and sufficient reason." 134 P. at 631. So by way of dicta, the court suggested that there was no reason for the State to consent to being sued in the courts because a constitutional framework already existed for bringing claims against the State. The language suggesting a jurisdictional limitation, therefore, represents a judicial justification for adhering to the ancient doctrine of sovereign immunity. Now that the doctrine has lost its vitality by express decree of the legislature, the historical rationalization for its existence need not detain this court. The most that can be said of the Wilkinson decision is that it contained some language implying that there was a limitation on court jurisdiction contained in Article VII, Sec. 13. Clearly, any such implication was directly renounced twenty years later in Campbell, supra. Yet the Wilkinson case is the only authority offered by the appellant which even inferentially supports the argument that the District Court had no jurisdiction to hear a claim against the State. The remainder of the cases cited by appellant stand collectively for the proposition that the Legislature cannot pay claims which have not been first reviewed by the Board. This proposition is both unassailable and irrelevant to the issue at bar. Those cases mandate the procedure to be followed after judgment is obtained, but have no bearing on the question of the jurisdiction of courts to render a judgment.

Mr. Hulbert filed this action pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §63-30a-2 (Supp. 1977), which provides for attorney's fees

and court costs necessarily incurred in the successful defense of grand jury indictments.

Section 3 of the same act specifies that:

[t]his act shall apply to claims arising prior to the effective date of this act so long as those claims are filed in the manner provided in the Utah Governmental Immunity Act and within two years after the cause of action arises. (emphasis added)

It is the respondent's contention that this reference to the procedures outlined in the Governmental Immunity Act was intended by the legislature to incorporate not only the provision regarding notice, but all of the procedures set forth in the Immunity Act for processing claims against the State. Those procedures are as follows:

Any person having a claim for any injury to person or property against a governmental entity or its employee may petition said entity for any appropriate relief including the award of money damages. Utah Code Ann. §63-30-11 (Supp. 1965)

A claim against the state or any agency thereof as defined herein shall be forever barred unless notice thereof is filed with the attorney general of the State of Utah and the agency concerned within one year after the cause of action arises. Utah Code Ann. §63-30-12 (Supp. 1965)

If the claim is denied, a claimant may institute an action in the district court against the governmental entity in those circumstances where immunity from suit has been waived as in this act provided. Said action must be commenced within one year after denial or the denial period as specified herein. Utah Code Ann. §63-30-15 (Supp. 1965)

The district courts shall have exclusive original jurisdiction over any action brought under this act and such actions shall be governed by the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure in so far as they are consistent with this act. Utah Code

Any claim approved by the state as defined herein or any final judgment obtained against the state shall be presented to the office, agency, institution or other instrumentality involved for payment if payment by said instrumentality is otherwise permitted by law. If such payment is not authorized by law then said judgment or claim shall be presented to the board of examiners and the board shall proceed as provided in section 63-6-10, Utah Code Annotated, 1953. Utah Code Ann. §63-30-23 (Supp. 1965) (emphasis added)

That it was the intent of the legislature to incorporate by reference all of the procedural aspects of the Immunity Act is clearly shown by the title of the Act under which the respondent claims, which recites the purposes of the bill as follows:

An act relating to governmental affairs; providing for the reimbursement to officers and employees of the state of legal fees and costs necessarily incurred in the successful defense of grand jury indictments; defining terms; and providing that the act shall apply to all claims submitted within the time limits and in the manner provided in the Utah Governmental Immunity Act. Laws of Utah 1977, ch. 245. (emphasis added)

The reference in section 63-30a-3 to filing claims "in the [same] manner" as is done under the Immunity Act has to include the procedures outlined in the Immunity Act for following the claims through to judgment if they are initially denied or ignored by the State. Otherwise the Act would be superfluous and without effect.

As we have seen, the appellant's only objection to accepting this procedure is that the Attorney General feels it would operate as an unconstitutional circumvention of the Board of Examiners. Yet, under the Immunity Act itself, the district

courts of the state are given exclusive jurisdiction to entertain actions against the state when a claim has been duly made upon the state and subsequently denied or ignored. Utah Code Ann. §63-30-15 & 16 (Supp. 1965). This jurisdiction is granted without regard to whether the legislature has made appropriations for payment of that claim. Utah Code Ann. §63-30-23 (Supp. 1965) provides the procedure to be followed when no appropriation is available, including submission of the judgment to the Board of Examiners.

The clear effect of this last provision is to insure that there is no conflict with Art. VII, Sec. 13 of the Constitution. While this procedure may be somewhat cumbersome, it is constitutional. As one writer has noted:

Article 7, Section 13, of the Utah Constitution provides that "a Board of Examiners . . . [shall have] power to examine all claims against the State." The Utah Supreme Court has given this provision a literal interpretation, thus granting the board almost unlimited power to make recommendations concerning the ultimate disposition of "claims" against the state. This power encompassed tort claims against the state prior to the Immunity Act and required that such claims be submitted to the board. The claims, together with recommendations from the board, were then passed upon by the legislature, generally in conformity with the board's recommendations.

In analyzing the court's broad interpretation of the power of the board in relation to the language of Section 23 of the Immunity Act, there appears to be an incongruous procedural system, which it has been argued, might make the Immunity Act unconstitutional by bypassing the board. Further consideration, however, would seem to indicate two ways in which any constitutional difficulties could be obviated.

First, section 23 of the Immunity Act provides that a "claim approved by the state . . . or any final judgment obtained against the state shall be presented . . . for payment if payment . . . is otherwise permitted by law." If payment is not authorized by law, then the claim must be "presented to the board of examiners . . ." It seems clear that if an approved claim or judgment cannot be satisfied under the constitution until it has been acted upon by the board of examiners, then no approved claim or judgment would be "otherwise permitted by law" within the meaning of the Immunity Act. Thus, even though all approved claims and judgments may have to be routed through the board of examiners, at the risk of delay in satisfaction by the board or by the legislature, the statute can easily be construed to be consistent with the constitution.

Note: The Utah Governmental Immunity Act:
An Analysis. 1967 Utah L. Review 120.

This statutory scheme vests jurisdiction in the district courts for all claims filed and denied under the provisions of the Immunity Act. It also makes it clear that the legislature envisioned the possibility of judgments being rendered which would have to be submitted to the Board of Examiners before they could be paid. The appellant has asserted that this section of the Immunity Act is unconstitutional because:

- (1) The constitutional and statutory powers of the board of examiners would thereby be reduced to a mere auditing;
- and (2) The constitutional power of the legislature to make appropriations of public funds would be usurped by the courts.

Both of these arguments are at odds with the facts. The section does not even imply any attempted direction to the Examiners

on how they should evaluate and vote on judgments obtained pursuant to the Act. The Examiners are left absolutely free to recommend or not recommend the claims for payment. While, pragmatically, the court action would undoubtedly facilitate a more expeditious review of the factual basis of any claim, thereby relieving the Board of Examiners of a burdensome duty, it is not suggested that the Board would be bound by any court findings. Certainly no usurpation of any legislative function is involved because even claims approved by the examiners would still have to be submitted to the legislature for payment, and their decision to pay or not would be final and binding. In short, granting jurisdiction to the courts to hear claims against the state does not involve any conflict with Article VII, Sec. 13, of the Constitution as long as the judgment rendered by such a court is ultimately submitted to the Board prior to being passed upon by the legislature.

The fundamental error that permeates the entire argument of the appellant is the failure to recognize the distinction between obtaining and satisfying a judgment. The Attorney General obfuscates the jurisdictional question with unnecessary recitation of the powers of the Examiners, which the respondent does not contest. He fails, however, to come to grips with the issue of a court's jurisdiction to hear claims against the state. The Supreme Court has resolved this issue in favor of court jurisdiction in Campbell, supra, forty years before. Respondent respectfully submits that this point on appeal is without merit.

POINT II. THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL FULLY
SUPPORTS THE JUDGMENT ENTERED BELOW.

In considering the appellant's contention that the District Court judgment is not supported by the evidence, this Court should bear in mind that the appellant has not challenged the finding that \$62,384.69 represents a reasonable amount for fees and costs for the services provided in defending Mr. Hulbert, but is only taking issue with the finding that such reasonable fees and costs were "necessarily incurred" within the meaning of Utah Code Ann. §63-30a-2 (Supp. 1977). When stripped of its recurrent diatribe regarding the plight of taxpayers, the appellant's argument can be easily stated: the fees and costs awarded were not necessarily incurred because Mr. Hulbert's counsel offered to accept less. Such an argument fails to take into account the plain meaning of the term "incurred" and the most basic principles of law pertaining to fees "incurred" as a result of attorney-client relationships.

The trial court, in its memorandum decision, made the following observations concerning the fee arrangement in Mr. Hulbert's prosecutions:

After the first group of indictments was issued in May of 1975, the Black firm suggested a \$5,000 retainer in connection with the research and preparation of plaintiff's defense of the indictments, which plaintiff paid. An additional \$5,000 was estimated for trial of the matter if necessary, and \$2,000 for appeal.

A second and later a third set of indictments were handed down in July and August of 1975. Rawlings, Roberts and Black continued to represent plaintiff

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